ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No: 2011-CP-40-1998
Court Of Appeals Number: 2012-212744

Jones G. Herring, Respondent,

v.

Gilbert S. Bagnell and Bagnell and Eason, LLC, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Richard R. Gleissner
Gleissner Law Firm, LLC
1237 Gadsden Street, Suite 200A
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 787-0505
Attorneys for Appellants

Douglas N. Truslow, Esquire
P.O. Box 1465
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 256-6276
Attorneys for Respondents

RECEIVED

NOV 25 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in ordering damages in an amount not in accord with the evidence presented?

- A. Whether a default judgment in a legal malpractice action precludes the need for a showing of the value of potential success on the underlying action?*
- B. Whether the Trial Court erred in awarding damages where Respondent failed to show any actual, quantifiable loss for failure to pursue an action under the Fair Credit Reporting Act?*

Whether the Trial Court's order was in accord with South Carolina law regarding the awarding of punitive damages?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jones G. Herring (the "Respondent" or "Mr. Herring") brought this action seeking damages for the alleged legal malpractice of Gilbert S. Bagnell ("Mr. Bagnell") and Bagnell and Eason, LLC ("Mr. Bagnell's Law Firm", collectively "Appellant") on March 24, 2011. See Record at Page 12. Appellant failed to answer Mr. Herring's complaint in a timely fashion and as a result a default judgment was entered on June 14, 2011. See Record at Page 1. On October 31, 2011, the Trial Court held a hearing for determination of damages in an action at law without a jury in accordance with 55(b)(2) SCRPC. The only evidence presented at the hearing was the testimony of Mr. Herring. After the hearing, the Trial Court took the decision under advisement and left the record open so as to allow for supplemental evidence to be presented and supplement the file. After the submission of an affidavit by the Respondent and Appellant's brief objecting to the alleged damages on several grounds, the Court signed an order in favor of the Respondent on November 23, 2011.

Appellant received notice of the order on December 5, 2011 and timely filed a motion to

reconsider on the very grounds they now appeal. This appeal was filed on August 16, 2012 and later refiled on January 17, 2013.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without a reference. *Id.* The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. *Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 211 S.E.2d 876 (1974). The order Appellate seeks to have overturned was on a hearing for determination of damages in an action at law without a jury in accordance with 55(b)(2) SCRPC. Further, South Carolina has “recognized that courts should closely scrutinize default judgments to prevent harsh results and drastic action.” *Renney v. Dobbs House, Inc.*, 275 S.C. 562, 567, 274 S.E.2d 290, 292-93 (1981)(reversing trial court’s finding holding the amount recoverable was not based on the proof). Thus, this Court must closely scrutinize whether the trial court’s order was based upon evidence which reasonably supported the findings. Further, the appellate court must examine the trial court's post-award review to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion to such a degree as to amount to an error of law. *Gamble v. Stevenson*, 305 S.C. 104, 406 S.E.2d 350 (1991).

FACTS

In or around March of 1998, Mr. Herring approached Consumer Credit Counseling Service, a division of Family Service Center of South Carolina, (“Family Service Center”) for the

purpose of refinancing several debt obligations. See Record at Page 23. One or perhaps several of these obligations was an obligation with Associates Financial Services, later assigned to CitiFinancial, Inc., that was in an amount never testified to with an interest rate of 24%. See Record at Page 23. In or around this same time, Mr. Herring entered into an agreement with Associates Financial Services and Family Service Center for the repayment of an outstanding debt in reduced monthly payments and a reduced interest rate. See Record at Page 23. In the agreement, Mr. Herring would make payments to Family Service Center, who would in turn make payments to the holder of the debt obligation. See Record at Page 112 ¶ 15-19.

Sometime in or around May of 2005, Mr. Herring paid the outstanding balance in full. See Record at Page 23. Though the debt was satisfied, Family Service Center continued to make payments on the debt in excess of \$1,200. See Record at Pages 108 ¶ 13-14, 112 ¶ 19-21. Similarly, after the debt was satisfied, CitiFinancial made reports to credit reporting agencies that Mr. Herring was delinquent on his debt. Sometime in the late 2005, Mr. Herring contacted the State of South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs (“SCDCA”) about the inappropriate actions of CitiFinancial in an effort to have the dispute regarding the overpayments and report resolved. See Record at Page 133 ¶ 1-14. SCDCA was unable to get a response from CitiFinancial and recommended that Mr. Herring retain an attorney. See Record at Pages 133 ¶ 10-14, p. 137 ¶ 5-10. At some time in early 2006, Mr. Herring received an IRS form 1099-C for a forgiveness of debt in 2005 of \$7,243. See Record at Pages 109-112. This amount was later corrected to a lesser amount. See Record at Pages 24, 113 ¶ 6-8. As a result of the additional income Mr. Herring claimed on his taxes, his taxable income was taxed at a higher income level and he was unable to receive an educational tax credit. See Record at Page 112 ¶ 7-12. The

excess income resulted in Mr. Herring not realizing \$1,805.00 in a tax refund in 2006. See Record at Pages 30-31.

Sometime in spring of 2006, Mr. Herring contacted Mr. Bagnell and Mr. Bagnell's Law Firm regarding the previously stated series of events. See Record at Page 124 ¶ 24-25. On or around May 17, 2006, Mr. Herring entered into an agreement with Mr. Bagnell and Mr. Bagnell's Law Firm to represent Mr. Herring in an action against CitiFinancial for the improper issuance of the 1099-C, the improper reporting to credit agencies, and the overpayment of \$1,200 from Mr. Herring to CitiFinancial. See Record at Page 89, 122-123. During the representation Mr. Bagnell requested several documents so as to support the cause of action against CitiFinancial. See Record at Pages 95-100. Specifically qualifying his assurance so as to not guarantee a result, Mr. Bagnell told Mr. Herring that he believed that Mr. Herring would be entitled to \$100,000 in damages in addition to any treble damages and legal fees. See Record at Page 24 and See Record at Page 92 ¶ 6-8. The purported cause of action was to be brought as a class action. See Record at Page 24. Mr. Bagnell also continually made representations as to previous awards he was able to attain for prior clients. See Record at Pages 86, 87-88, 92, 100, 102.

Sometime in or around 2008, Mr. Herring sought to purchase a house from the estate of his father. See Record at Page 125 ¶ 6-10. As a result of his poor credit score he was unable to qualify for favorable interest terms or a waiver of closing costs. As a result, Mr. Herring will likely pay an additional \$18,812.59 in closing costs, interest, and personal mortgage insurance over the term of the loan. See Record at Page 28. While Mr. Herring later discovered that under the tax code he would be able to amend his taxes to correct the improperly qualified income from

the 1099 issued by CitiFinancial, Mr. Herring failed to do so prior to the running of the statute allowing for amending his return. See Record at Page 124 ¶ 5-20. Mr. Bagnell never filed a class action against CitiFinancial on behalf of Mr. Herring. See Record at Page 99 ¶ 18-25. Further, Mr. Bagnell did not return the documents provided by Mr. Herring prior to the hearing on this matter. See Record at Pages 95-98. Mr. Herring filed a complaint with the South Carolina Bar sometime in early 2011 and several months later filed this action. See Record at Page 98 ¶ 6-14.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. *The Respondent had the burden of presenting evidence of the value of the underlying claim, regardless of the default judgment against Appellant, for purposes of determining the amount of damages.*

The trial court erred in awarding the Respondent \$504,306.77 based upon the evidence presented at the hearing and in the supplemental affidavit. South Carolina law requires that an award for damages be supported by the evidence presented to the court. Despite the entering of a default judgment against the Appellant, Respondent is required to present adequate evidence of the amount of damages suffered. The Respondent failed to present any evidence as to his ability to successfully bring an action on the alleged acts of CitiFinancial. Similarly, the Respondent never presented evidence as to how his ability to bring the action was affected by the Appellants failure to bring the action. While the default of Appellant resulted in a finding that the inaction of Appellants was negligent and resulted in a harm to Respondent, there was inadequate evidence presented as to the extent of harm that resulted from the negligence. The testimony of the Respondent and his later affidavit in no way addressed the proximate relation of the alleged damages to the harm admitted. While testimony was presented that the Respondent believed he

may be entitled to \$100,000 in damages and treble damages against CitiFinancial, such evidence was speculative. Further, no evidence as to the likelihood of success or the collectability of such a judgment was presented. Thus, the trial court erred in awarding the Respondent damages of \$504,306.77.

A. The Court is only allowed to grant damages with a showing by Respondent of the value of the alleged underlying claim.

South Carolina law requires that the Respondent present adequate evidence of the harm suffered. A defendant in default admits liability but not the damages as set forth in the prayer for relief. *Renney*, 275 S.C. 562, 274 S.E.2d 290. The amount of damages in a default action must be proved by the preponderance of the evidence. *Id.*; see *Jackson v. Midlands Human Res. Ctr.*, 296 S.C. 526, 529, 374 S.E.2d 505, 507 (Ct.App.1988) (“A judgment for money damages must be warranted by the proof of the party in whose favor it is rendered.”).

“[T]here is a difference between a defendant being declared in default and subsequently having judgment entered against him for damages. By defaulting, a defendant forfeits his “right to answer or otherwise plead to the complaint.” In essence, the defaulting defendant has conceded liability. However, a defaulting defendant does not concede the [a]mount of liability.

Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc., 271 S.C. 238, 241–42, 246 S.E.2d 880, 882 (1978)(citations omitted).

In a default case, the plaintiff must prove by competent evidence the amount of his damages, and such proof must be by a preponderance of the evidence. Although the defendant is in default as to liability, the award of damages must be in keeping not only with the allegations of the complaint and the prayer for relief, but also with the proof that has been submitted.

Jackson, 296 S.C. at 529, 374 S.E.2d at 506 (citations omitted). To recover damages, the evidence must enable the jury to determine the amount of damages with reasonable certainty or

accuracy. *Whisenant v. James Island Corp.*, 277 S.C. 10, 13, 281 S.E.2d 794, 796 (1981). “While neither the existence, causation nor amount of damages can be left to conjecture, guess or speculation, proof with mathematical certainty of the amount of loss or damage is not required.” *Id.* Similarly, the determination of damages may depend to some extent on the consideration of contingent events if a reasonable basis of computation is provided, allowing a reasonably close estimate of the loss. *Piggy Park Enter., Inc. v. Schofield*, 251 S.C. 385, 391–92, 162 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1968). Thus, the Respondent was required to present evidence that would allow a reasonably close estimate as to the harm the negligence of Appellant caused the Respondent by a preponderance of the evidence.

The evidence required to be shown in an action for legal malpractice has been more specifically narrowed. As in any negligence action, the plaintiff in a legal malpractice action must establish proximate cause. *Hall v. Fedor*, 349 S.C. 169, 177, 561 S.E.2d 654, 658 (Ct. App. 2002)(“the plaintiff must show he or she ‘*most probably*’ would have been successful in the underlying suit if the attorney had not committed the alleged malpractice.”), see also *Brown v. Theos*, 345 S.C. 626, 550 S.E.2d 304 (2001); *Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997); *Manning v. Quinn*, 294 S.C. 383, 365 S.E.2d 24 (1988); *Floyd v. Kosko*, 285 S.C. 390, 329 S.E.2d 459 (Ct.App.1985). Normally, proximate cause is a question of fact for the jury, and it may be proved by direct or circumstantial evidence. *Player v. Thompson*, 259 S.C. 600, 193 S.E.2d 531 (1972). Proximate cause requires proof of: (1) causation-in-fact, and (2) legal cause. *Bramlette v. Charter–Medical–Columbia*, 302 S.C. 68, 72, 393 S.E.2d 914, 916 (1990). Causation-in-fact is proved by establishing the injury would not have occurred “but for” the defendant's negligence, and legal cause is proved by establishing foreseeability. *Id.* Generally,

expert testimony is required to establish proximate cause in a malpractice case. *Green v. Lilliewood*, 272 S.C. 186, 249 S.E.2d 910 (1978) (“Since many malpractice suits involve [issues] outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge, expert testimony is generally necessary.”). Expert testimony is not required, however, to prove proximate cause if the common knowledge or experience of laypersons is extensive enough to determine the presence of the required causal link between the negligence and the harm. *Pederson v. Gould*, 288 S.C. 141, 341 S.E.2d 633 (1986); *King v. Williams*, 276 S.C. 478, 279 S.E.2d 618 (1981); see *Armstrong v. Weiland*, 267 S.C. 12, 16, 225 S.E.2d 851, 853 (1976) (“When the testimony of an expert witness is not relied upon to establish proximate cause, it is sufficient for plaintiff to put forth some evidence which rises above mere speculation or conjecture....”). Thus, Respondent was required to present some testimony in regards to the resulting harm of Mr. Bagnell’s negligence and the resulting harm which rose above mere speculation or conjecture of what he believed he was entitled to.

Other jurisdictions have more succinctly held that if the malpractice charged is related to the prosecution of an underlying action, it is generally held that where there is a "trial within a trial" the client-plaintiff in the legal malpractice action has the burden of proof to establish that proper handling of the matter would have resulted in recovery of a judgment, and that the judgment would have been fully or partially collectible. *Williams v. Bashman*, 457 F. Supp. 322, 326 (E.D. Pa. 1978), See Also *Christy v. Saliterman*, 288 Minn. 144, 150, 179 N.W.2d 288, 294 (1970), *Sitton v. Clements*, 257 F. Supp. 63 (E.D. Tenn. 1966), *aff'd*, 385 F.2d 869 (6th Cir. 1967); *Duke & Co. v. Anderson*, 275 Pa. Super. 65, 418 A.2d 613 (1980); *Sherry v. Diercks*, 29 Wash. App. 433, 628 P.2d 1336 (1981), *McDow v. Dixon*, 138 Ga. App. 338, 226 S.E.2d 145 (1976), *Moore v. Moyle*, 405 Ill. 555, 566, 92 N.E.2d 81, 87 (1950), *Hoppe v. Ranzini*, 158 N.J.

Super. 158, 385 A.2d 913 (Super. Ct. App. Div. 1978). “The plaintiff in a legal malpractice action must prove a ‘case within a case,’ as he or she must prove the merits of the underlying case as part of the proof of the malpractice case.” 7A C.J.S. Attorney & Client § 331 (citations omitted). The question of what should have happened in the underlying action is a question of law. See, e.g., *Doe v. Howe*, 626 S.E.2d 25, 31, n. 18 (S.C. Ct. App. 2007)(“Under the case-within-a-case concept, the test is objective. Therefore, the test is not what the outcome would have been, but rather what it should have been.”); *Manning*, 356 S.E.2d 24, 25 (holding that the likelihood of success of underlying case was a question of law).

B. A court’s order granting damages without supporting evidence as actual and quantifiable was not in accord with South Carolina law.

On the record before it, the trial court could not have awarded any damages without impermissibly resorting to speculation. In this case, not only was there a lack of adequate evidence, there was a complete lack of evidence of any kind. No expert witness testified. No one rendered an opinion on the likelihood of success. No one testified as to the collectability of any damages. More importantly, no one even testified that the statute of limitations had run on bringing the claim. In fact, whether the claim could be brought today is still an issue.

Simply, the Respondent failed to present adequate evidence to support the Trial Court’s order for damages against the Appellant. The Respondent at no time presented evidence as to the ability to bring an action on the alleged actions of CitiFinancial. Similarly, the Respondent never presented evidence as to how his ability to bring the action was affected by the Appellants failure to bring the action. While the default of Appellant resulted in a finding that the inaction of Appellants was negligent and resulted in a harm to Respondent. There was no finding, however,

as to the extent of harm that resulted from the negligence. The testimony of the Respondent and his later affidavit in no way addressed the proximate relation of the alleged damages to the harm admitted. While testimony was presented that the Respondent believed he may be entitled to 100,000 in damages and treble damages, such evidence could only be described as mere speculation or conjecture as to information that is outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge. Finally, no evidence as to the likelihood of success or the collectability of such a judgment was presented. The trial court erred in awarding the Respondent \$504,306.77 based upon the evidence presented at the hearing and in the supplemental affidavit. Such evidence could, at best, be described as speculative and conjecture.

Thus, the Court's order must be reversed and these issues must be properly addressed on remand.

II. The Trial Court erred in granting punitive damages without clear and convincing evidence of a harm resulting from wilful, wanton, or reckless conduct.

Without a showing of harm resulting from wilful, wanton, or reckless conduct by clear and convincing evidence, the trial court erred in granting punitive damages. Under South Carolina law, “[p]unitive damages may be awarded only if the plaintiff proves by clear and convincing evidence that his harm was the result of the defendant's wilful, wanton, or reckless conduct.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-520. Similarly, in determining the amount of punitive damages, the court is to consider all relevant evidence, including, but not limited to:

“(1) the defendant's degree of culpability; (2) the severity of the harm caused by the defendant; (3) the extent to which the plaintiff's own conduct contributed to the harm; (4) the duration of the conduct, the defendant's awareness, and any concealment by the defendant; (5) the existence of similar past conduct; (6) the profitability of the conduct to the defendant; (7) the defendant's ability to pay; (8) the likelihood the award will deter the defendant or others from like conduct; (9) the awards of punitive damages against the defendant in any

state or federal court action alleging harm from the same act or course of conduct complained of by the plaintiff; (10) any criminal penalties imposed on the defendant as a result of the same act or course of conduct complained of by the plaintiff; and (11) the amount of any civil fines assessed against the defendant as a result of the same act or course of conduct complained of by the plaintiff.”

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