THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2012-212744

CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2011-CP-40-1998

Gilbert S. Bagnell and Bagnell and Eason, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

Jones G. Herring,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Douglas N. Truslow
Truslow & Truslow
P.O. Box 1465
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 256-6276
Fax: (803) 256-7659
douglastruslow@truslowlaw.com
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED

NOV 19 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

ADDRESSING APPELLANTS’ ARGUMENT 1:

I.

A. May a finder of fact draw adverse inferences from a party’s unethical withholding of evidence supporting the opposing litigant’s claims? (Spoliation of Evidence)

B. Did the lower court err in determining that Respondent met his burden of proof regarding damages? (Proof of Damages)

Appellants assert that they are immune from the consequences of their repeated and multiple bad acts. The essence of Appellants’ argument is that, although conceding liability and despite the fact that Herring presented evidence as to his damages:

- An attorney and/or a law firm is entitled, without consequence, to repeatedly deceive a client and the court(s); commit gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary duties;
- An attorney and/or a law firm is entitled, without consequence, to withhold from a client and the courts(s) valuable documents and other evidence establishing both the serious degree of culpability and extent of damages caused by the attorney; and
- Without any adverse inference ever being drawn, an attorney and his law firm are entitled to withhold from their (former) client his files containing proof of damages proximately caused by the attorney and the law firm.

Appellants' argument is without merit for two primary reasons.¹²

A. Spoliation of Evidence

No litigant should be allowed to engineer or achieve an advantage and/or realize a more favorable result by willfully withholding documentary evidence designed to establish and/or support the legitimacy, truth and integrity of what an opposing party asserts. This is especially true where the at-fault parties are/were an attorney and his law firm who are withholding evidence from their client.

Appellants are to be charged with legal and ethical obligations to their client and the legal system itself. Appellants, and Bagnell in particular, should not be allowed to benefit by ploys to hide the truth and subvert the ends of justice, to Herring's prejudice. Halyburton v. Kershaw, 1810 WL 298 (S.C. Ct. App. 1810); Executors of Blake v. Lowe, 1811 WL 319 (S.C. Ct. App. 1811); Kershaw County Board of Education v. United States Gypsum Co., 396 S.E. 2d 369, 372 (S.C. 1990); Stokes v. Spartanburg Regional

¹² While arguably a third point, the terms of the Order of Default suggested that at least nominal damages were appropriate, with the only remaining issues relating to the amounts. Appellants have not reserved any argument or claim that the Order of Default was defective or not lawful. See Whaley v. CSX Transp., Inc., 362 S.C. 456, 609 S.E.2d 286, citing Holy Loch Distributors, Inc. v. Hitchcock, 340 S.C. 20, 531 S.E.2d 282 (to preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court).

Medical Center, 629 S.E.2d 675 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006); Silvestri v. General Motors Corp., 271 F.3d 583 (4th Cir. 2001).

Herring testified relative to his file(s) being withheld by Appellants, the significance, the consequences and his file(s)' value (for the underlying case as well as its independent value). Without objection, the lower court took judicial notice of the terms of Bagnell's disbarment. Appellants wrongfully and unethically withheld Herring's property/evidence. Considerable, credible and compelling testimony and an affidavit with detailed damages were presented to the lower court proving the file(s)' importance and that Appellants continued to withhold same. Further, Herring presented evidence that his creditor case would have been successful had it ever been filed by Appellants. Herring also presented evidence of his damages. Regardless of the existence of evidence supporting his claims, and having deceived Herring, Appellants would now proposed that they are entitled to withhold evidence that would prove both the extent of their wrongdoing, as well as the extent of damages caused thereby. Appellants' argument is without merit and ignores both the weight of evidence and the inferences to be drawn.

Appellants ignored certified letters from Herring seeking his file(s). (See by way of example Supp R. pp. 77-78). Appellants also ignored intermediaries who sought to assist. Appellants were otherwise dismissive of Herring. They further failed to heed the significance of the lower court's exceedingly generous offer to allow them even more time to provide Herring with his file subsequent to the damages hearing on October 31, 2011. Otherwise, Appellants deliberately ignored the good faith intent and import of the lower court's proposal. Appellants are not to be rewarded by their inattention to detail, their failure to act responsibly or their additional misconduct.

The record is replete with references that Appellants, and Bagnell specifically, withheld important evidence and property from their client, as well as refusing to turn the file(s) over to ODC. Bagnell refused to honor ODC's subpoena for Herring's file(s). It was unfortunate, but predictable that Appellants would attempt to further toy with Herring and not honor the generous offer of the lower court. After all, Bagnell had failed and/or refused to produce Herring's property for disbarment proceedings.

Appellants have acted in a duplicitous, disingenuous fashion. Aside from being internally inconsistent, Appellants' excuses are not plausible. In consideration of the passage of time and with retention periods having expired, Herring's logs of activities prepared in conjunction with Bagnell, as well as his other documents, were even more valuable and significant. Given Herring's unsuccessful attempts to acquire his file(s) from Appellants through the channels detailed herein, there was little else Herring could do. Appellants knew this, and continued as they had before. Their scheme has been blatant and overt. It has been dishonest and clearly calculated, designed and intended by Appellants to further harm Herring, as well as to hide the extent of their misconduct in an attempt to escape the consequences of their misdeeds. Such thoroughly shameful activity by an attorney and a law firm should not be approved, condoned or allowed by the courts.

It is noteworthy that, despite prior and repeated unethical conduct, the lower court provided Appellants with yet another opportunity to comply with their obligations and to otherwise assist the lower court in discerning the truth of the matter and the extent of damages in context, *to wit*: by providing the file(s). If all documentation of actual damages were produced and determined to be less than the amount to which Herring testified, he would be in a position to so advise the lower court by way of affidavit. It is hard to imagine that the lower court could have been any more conscientious and fair to Appellants. Appellants have not reciprocated, but *arguendo*, what they presented was simply not credible in context.

Due process was afforded Appellants. Appellants were provided extra time after the damages hearing to produce Herring's file(s). Appellants did not thereafter timely produce Herring's file after the hearing.¹³ Appellants' repeated defalcations should not be without consequence, and Herring should not be further prejudiced by Appellants' actions.

¹³ Bagnell claimed in his affidavit to have produced the file (allegedly produced to Herring after both his disbarment and the time in which to supplement the record had expired). Notably, all Bagnell's claims were and are disputed by Herring except to the appalling and limited degree that Bagnell disingenuously and duplicitously purported to comply at such a time as was obviously calculated to prevent a further response by Herring, if indeed one were required.

Herring's file(s) and documentation were valuable to him on a number of levels. Indeed an adverse inference should be drawn from Appellants' non-production and concealing of Herring's file(s). If Appellants had nothing to hide, and had they not harmed Herring, Appellants would have benefitted by promptly providing the file(s) to Herring, the intermediaries who attempted to assist and independently to ODC. Bagnell opted to be disbarred from the practice of law in this State, rather than simply to return to Herring his file(s), or offer any reasonable or plausible explanation for non-production. Further, a law firm possessing due concern for its client's welfare would have certainly acted diligently in locating the file(s) and reporting to all concerned the attendant circumstances, especially with Bagnell leaving the State, being suspended from the practice of law and later being disbarred. The fact that Appellants acted as they did speaks volumes about the issues and inferences that were properly to have been drawn by the lower court.¹⁴ Moreover, there was evidence produced (both through live testimony, and later through an affidavit with attachments) establishing Herring's claims and supporting the findings of the lower court.

Finally, and at the risk of being redundant, Appellants' secreting of Herring's file(s) deprived Herring, *inter alia*, of a reasonable opportunity to pursue his case against the creditor, utilizing professional services of a law firm and attorney more attuned to ethical and practical, common sense considerations. The evidence before the lower court established that Herring's file(s) would corroborate Herring's averments relative to the underlying claims against Herring's creditor(s), as well as further corroborate the gross wrongdoings of Appellants and further detail the damages they proximately caused.

Herring's file(s) were relevant to both actual and punitive damages. It was not inappropriate for the lower court to consider all the facts and circumstances in context, and to draw an adverse inference from Appellants' gross misconduct and withholding of evidence.

¹⁴ While it is not incumbent upon Herring to prove motive, Appellants' misconduct appears to be a mixture of unmitigated arrogance, greed and unbridled stupidity. Otherwise, it would be mere conjecture and an exercise in futility to assign motive to Appellants, the same as it would be a waste of time to wonder why one who embezzles from a bank does not appreciate that he is likely to be caught and then have to suffer the consequences.

B. Proof of Damages

In addition to, and independent of the inference to be drawn from Appellants' withholding of Herring's file, Herring provided the lower court with a thoughtful, detailed and compelling description and summary of his damages and losses, both through live testimony and through an affidavit with attachments. The lower court handled the matter in accordance with the principles set forth in Howard v. Holiday Inns, Inc., 271 S.C. 238, 246 S.E.2d 880 (1978) and Limehouse v. Hulsey, (Opinion no. 27279, Filed June 26, 2013). Appellants were given an eminently fair hearing. Evidence supporting the claims of Herring and the findings of the lower court exist in the record.

The lower court gave due weight to the evidence and it would be inapposite to now second guess the lower court. Herring pointedly testified regarding the sacrifices he had made to pay a \$100,000.00 consumer debt that he could have otherwise avoided by way of bankruptcy. He testified regarding the value of his property (i.e. his file(s))¹⁵ and other damages he had sustained. Appellants were provided with an opportunity to thoroughly cross-examine Herring. Appellants were not prejudiced by the procedure followed. Appellants conceded Herring could have simply and easily avoided both the \$100,000.00 consumer debt and the considerable sacrifices he had made to pay it, by way of bankruptcy. Appellants expressly conceded that Herring acted "admirably". (R. pp. 33-38). Without objection, and in addition to his testimony, Herring presented to the lower court affidavit evidence that was credible and reasonably detailed under the circumstances, especially considering Appellants had defaulted, conceded liability and did not personally appear or produce Herring's file(s). Appellants strategically opted not to seek to reopen the case or to further cross-examine Herring relative to the content of his affidavit detailing damages. Their reasons for not doing so remain obvious.

The timing of events relative to the submission of Herring's affidavit evidence is also noteworthy in context. Only after receipt of Herring's affidavit did Bagnell attempt to submit a self-serving affidavit. It was, in context, clearly established to be even more disingenuous, incongruent and dishonest than Appellants' misconduct detailed elsewhere

¹⁵ Waites v. South Carolina Windstorm and Hail Underwriting Ass'n, 279 S.C. 362 (An owner may testify as to value of ... personal property).

herein.¹⁶ The lower court gave Appellants' submission(s) the consideration and weight warranted. Again, the lower court guarded and protected Appellants' due process rights. Appellants were proven again and again to have failed to honor their ethical and legal obligations to Herring. Even to the extent defaulting Appellants had any right to present affidavit evidence, it established in context that Appellants were duplicitous, disingenuous and that their submissions were not credible.

Herring, on the other hand, presented the lower court with testimony and an affidavit thoroughly describing damages, a timeline an explanation of events, and an Excel spreadsheet of damages. As well, Herring confirmed that he had an additional \$28,000.00 of losses (that had been submitted to ODC and addressed in Bagnell's disbarment Order). Simply stated, the evidence presented by Herring had weight properly evaluated by the lower court. It had even more weight to the degree and to the extent it was properly juxtaposed against Appellants' submission(s).

The lower court found Herring's evidence credible, persuasive and compelling. The record reflects that Bagnell told Herring that he had an excellent case, and that his case and his file(s) were each worth at least \$100,000.00. In addition, Appellants concede that Bagnell had told Herring that, while he (Bagnell) could not guarantee it, he (Bagnell) held the opinion that Herring would be entitled to treble damages and fees as well as actual damages. One irony is that had the lower court trebled those sums, considered the other proof of damages as well giving consideration of the personal sacrifices Herring had made to honor his commitments the damages likely would have been even greater than the sums awarded.

In essence, the lower court carefully considered all that was properly before it, and supported in the record. The lower court utilized a conservative approach that was thoughtful, well reasoned, persuasive and seemingly beneficial to Appellants, given the totality of the circumstances. Herring received no special treatment from the lower court;

¹⁶ Notable for its absence is what Bagnell obviously did not present to the lower court as a component of or attachment to his affidavit: there was absolutely no contract of employment, no law firm intake record or client contact information, no correspondence addressed to anyone by Appellants, no certified letters from Herring to Appellants, no documentation reflecting any investigative efforts by Appellants, no legal research, etc.

the sums awarded were less than the amount Herring sought.¹⁷ There was ample, credible evidence as well as reasonable inferences presented to support the decision rendered. The findings of fact are to be given deference. Daisy Outdoor Advertising Co., Inc. v. Dean Abbott, 317 S.C. 14, 16, 451 S.E.2d 394, 395 (Ct. App. 1994); Palmettonet, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm., 318 S.C. 102, 456 S.E. 2d 385, 387 (1995); Mayes v. Paxton, 313 S.C. 109, 114, 437 S.E.2d 66, 69 (1993). There was no abuse of discretion by the lower court. Midlands Utility, Inc. v. S.C.D.H.E.C., 313 S.C. 210, 437 S.E.2d 120, 121 (Ct. App. 1993). Given the proof and circumstances, the findings of actual damages must be affirmed.¹⁸ No legal or factual error was made by the lower court.

Overall and finally, Appellants have confused, ignored and improperly intermingled the standard of proof required to establish damages with proof necessary to establish liability. Appellants' liability was conceded and previously determined by virtue of the Order of Default. Again, it is emphasized that Appellants have not argued or asserted error relative to the Order of Default. Any such claims of error in that Order have not been preserved, and thus waived, in any event. See Whaley v. CSX Transp., Inc., 362 S.C. 456, 609 S.E.2d 286, citing Holy Loch Distributors, Inc. v. Hitchcock, 340 S.C. 20, 531 S.E.2d 282 (to preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court).

ADDRESSING APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT 2:

II. Whether punitive damages may be imposed when an at-fault party has engaged in gross misconduct and fraud.

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